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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 1Al
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA A §
; TPy o

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION,

Plaintiff, , 0 6 '

. oCV 1952 R yma
NEOVI, INC., d/b/a NEOVI DATA cilv
CORPORATION and QCHEX.COM,; VIL NO. =1 iesimse . |
G7 PRODUCTIVITY SYSTEMS, INC,, o
d/b/a QCHEX.COM;

COMPLAINT FOR '

JAMES M. DANFORTH, individually, and | INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER

as an officer of Neovi, Inc. and G7
Productivity Systems, Inc.; and

THOMAS VILLWOCK, individually, and as
an officer of Neovi, Inc.;

Defendants.

Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC” or “Commission”), for its complaint

alleges as follows:

EQUITABLE RELIEF
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1. The Commission brings this action under Section 13(b) of the Federal Trade
Commuission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), to obtain temporary, preliminary, and
permanent injunctive relief against defendants to prevent them from engaging in unfair acts or
practices in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), and to obtain other
equitable relief, including rescission of contracts, restitution, and disgorgement, as is necessary to
redress injury to consumers and the public interest resulting from defendants’ violations of the
FTC Act.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. | Subject matter jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court by 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a) and
53(b), and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337(a), and 1345.

3. Venue in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California is
proper under 15 U.S.C. § 53(b) and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c).

PLAINTIFF

4. Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission, is an independent agency of the United
States government created by statute. 15 U.S.C. §§ 41-58. The Commission enforces Section
5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), which prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or
affecting commerce. The Commission is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings
by its own attorneys to enjoin violations of the FTC Act and to secure such equitable relief as
may be appropriate in each case, including rescission of contracts, restitution, and disgorgement,
as is necessary to redress injury to consumers and the public interest. 15 U.S.C. § 53(b).

DEFENDANTS

5. Defendant Neovi, Inc., d/b/a Neovi Data Corporation and Qchex.com (“Neovi”),

is a California corporation that does or has done business at 10710 Thornmint Road, San Diego,

California and 10946 Willow Court, Suite 100, San Diego, California. Neovi does or has done
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business using the www.qchex.com Internet website. Neovi transacts or has transacted business
in this District.

6. Defendant G7 Productivity Systems, Inc., d/b/a Qchex.com (“G7”) is a California
corporation that does or has done business at 10710 Thornmint Rd., San Diego, California and
10946 Willow Court, Suite 100, San Diego, California. G7 does or has done business using the
www.qchex.com Internet website. 7 transacts or has transacted business in this District.

7. Defendant James M. Danforth (“Danforth”) is the Chief Operations Officer of
Neovi and the Chief Financial Officer of G7. Individually or in concert with others, he has
formulated, directed, controlled, or participated in the acts and practices of Neovi and G7,
including the acts and practices set forth in this complaint, and has done so at all times pertinent
to this action. Danforth resides or has resided in and transacts or has transacted business in this
District. |

8. Defendant Thomas Villwock (“Villwock”) is the Chief Executive Officer of
Neovi. Individually or in concert with others, he has formulated, directed, controlled, or
participated in the acts and practices of Neovi and G7, including the acts and practices set forth
in this complaint, and has done so at all times pertinent to this action. Villwock transacts or has
transacted business in this District. .

COMMON ENTERPRISE

9. Corporate defendants Neovi and G7 have operated as a common enterprise while
engaging in the unfair acts and practices alleged below. Individual defendants Villwock and
Danforth have formulated, directed, controlled or had authority to control, or participated in the

acts and practices of the corporate defendants that comprise the common enterprise.
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COMMERCE

10. At all times relevant to this complaint, defendants have maintained a substantial
course of trade in or affecting commerce, as “commerce” is defined in Section 4 of the FTC Act,
15 U.S.C. § 44.

DEFENDANTS’ BUSINESS PRACTICES

11. Since 2000, in numerous instances, defendants have created and delivered a check
drawn on a bank account identified to defendants by a customer without first verifying the
authority of a customer to draw checks on the identified bank account.

12.  Defendants operate a website at www.gchex.com (“Qchex website™) at which
members of the public can access defendants’ check creation and delivery services (“Qchex
services”) on the Internet. Through the Qchex website, defendants create and deliver checks
(“Qchex checks”) drawn on bank accounts identified by their customers.

13.  To use the Qchex website, a customer establishes a Qchex account by entering his
or her name and email address and creating a password for his or her Qchex account. Once a
customer has established a Qchex account, to create a check drawing on an identified bank
account, the customer need only provide: a name and address for the payer; a name and address
for the bank at which the account is held; the bank routing number and bank account number;
and a starting check number. The customer can then start requesting individual checks by
providing, for each check, the name and address of the payee and the payment amount.

14.  In the signature line of a Qchex check, defendants place either a digital signature
that the customer provides, the payer’s name, or a statement that no signature is required.

15.  Inthe past, defendants also placed a bank logo on the check if the customer
submitted one.

16.  Once a customer has requested that a check be created, defendants offer the

customer two options for delivering the check. If the customer chooses U.S. Mail, defendants
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print the check on G7-produced security check paper, print the check with G7 magnetic ink, and
use a bank-certified font for the bank routing and account information; and they then mail the
check to the payee. Alternatively, if the customer chooses electronic delivery, defendants create
an electronic image of the check and send it to the payee via email. Qchex recommends that the
payee print the check using special software, paper, and ink sold by G7.

17.  Defendants collect fees for Qchex services. Until the spring of 2006, defendants
required customers to prepay for Qchex services. When a customer established a Qchex account,
defendants typically charged the customer’s credit card or bank account $10, $20, $50 or more to
create a prepayment balance in the customer’s Qchex account. Thereafter, each time defendants
created and delivered a check for the customer, the defendants deducted between $0.25 and $0.50
from the customer’s Qchex account balance. If the defendants printed and mailed the check, they
would also deduct the cost of postage from the balance. During the spring of 2006, defendants
stated that they would create and deliver by email up to 1,000 checks for any customer each
month without requiring any payment. If a customer wanted delivery by U.S. Mail, defendants
stated that the customer had to pay a monthly membership fee for which defendants created and
delivered by U.S. Mail a certain number of checks each month. Since approximately July 3,
2006, defendants have stated that they will charge a monthly membership fee whether a customer
wants checks sent by email or U.S. Mail.

18.  During their course of business, in numerous instances, defendants have created
and delivered a check for a customer even when the customer’s name differed from the name on
the bank account listed on the checks or from the name on the credit card account the customer
used to pay for defendants’ services.

19.  During their course of business, in numerous instances, defendants have created

and delivered a check for a customer even when the customer’s mailing address listed in the
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customer’s Qchex account profile differed from the matiling address on the bank account listed
on the check or on the credit card account the customer used to pay for defendants’ services.

20.  Before approximately September 5, 2005, defendants created and delivered
checks for any customer who visited the Qchex website without taking any steps to first verify
that customer’s authority to draw checks on the bank account the customer identified to
defendants.

21.  On or about September 5, 2005, defendants began implementing a procedure
purportedly designed to verify the authority of a customer to draw checks on the bank account the
customer identified to defendants. Defendants represented that, before they would create and
deliver checks for a customer, the customer had to demonstrate that he or she had access to the
identified bank account. To allow a custorﬁer to make this demonstration, defendants
represented that they would make a small deposit (termed a “micro-deposit”) into the identified
bank account and subsequently the customer would confirm the amount of the micro-deposit,
which would show that the customer had access to such information about the identified bank
account.

22.  Despite defendants’ representations that they implemented the procedure
described in paragraph 21, since September 5, 2005, defendants created and delivered checks for
some customers without requiring the micro-deposit procedure described in paragraph 21.

23. Sometime during the spring of 2006, defendants represented that they
implemented another purported verification procedure for Qchex customers. Defendants
represented that, before they would create and deliver checks for a customer, the customer was
required to fax, mail, or upload images to Qchex of (a) a voided check from the identified bank
account, and (b) a signed copy of the Qchex terms of service agreement.

24.  Despite defendants’ representations that they implemented the procedure

described in paragraph 23, since the spring of 2006, defendants have created and delivered
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checks for customers without requiring the voided check verification procedure described in
paragraph 23.

25. Since on or about July 3, 2006, defendants have represented that they are
implementing other purported verification procedures for Qchex customers. In some instances,
defendants have represented that, before creating and delivering a check for a customer,
defendants will: (a) mail an authorization code to the mailing address provided by the customer
and require the customer to enter this authorizaiion code on the Qchex website; and (b) create a
check drawn on the identified bank account to pay the fees for Qchex’s services and wait for that
check to clear.

26. The purported verification procedures described in paragraph 25, if implemented
by defendants, would not provide defendants with verification that the customers have authority
to draw checks on the bank accounts that the customers identify to defendants.

DEFENDANTS’ PRACTICES HAVE CAUSED SUBSTANTIAL CONSUMER INJURY
THAT CANNOT REASONABLY BE AVOIDED AND IS NOT OUTWEIGHED BY
COUNTERVAILING BENEFITS TO CONSUMERS OR TO COMPETITION

27.  Defendants have injured individuals and businesses by creating and delivering
checks without first verifying that the customers using the Qchex services have had authority to
draw such checks on the bank accounts that the customers have identified to defendants.

Defendants’ actions have resulted in financial losses to victims in several scenarios, including

those described in the following paragraphs.

Persons Whose Bank Accounts Have Been Debited as a Result of
Defendants’ Creation of Unauthorized Checks

28. In numerous instances, defendants have caused injury to a bank account holder by
causing funds to be debited from the holder’s bank account without the account holder’s
authorization or knowledge and by causing other related harm such as incurring the costs of

closing accounts, opening new accounts, and ordering new checks.
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29.  In numerous instances, account holders victimized by defendants’ creation and
delivery of unauthorized checks have been unable to notify defendants that defendants have
caused unauthorized withdrawals from their bank accounts. In many instances, these account
holders have been unable to lodge complaints because they have not been able to locate a
working telephone number or otherwise contact defendants.

30.  Insome instances, account holders victimized by defendants’ creation and
delivery of unauthorized checks have notified or attempted to notify defendants that defendants
have caused unauthorized withdrawals from their bank accounts, but defendants nevertheless
have continued to create and deliver unauthorized checks drawn on those victims’ bank accounts.

31. When defendants have created and delivered unauthorized checks, the holders of
the accounts on which the checks have been drawn could not reasonably have avoided the injury.
Such account holders have had no relationship with defendants and could not have known that
defendants would create and deliver checks drawn on their bank accounts. -

Persons Who Have Accepted As Payment Unauthorized Checks
Created and Delivered by Defendants

32.  Defendants’ practices have caused financial losses to individuals and businesses
who have provided goods, services, or funds after accepting as payment Qchex checks that later
proved to be unauthorized and invalid.

33.  Inmany instances, individuals and businesses have received unauthorized Qchex
checks and deposited them in their bank accounts. In many instances, unauthorized Qchex
checks initially have cleared the bank accounts upon which they were drawn.

34.  Innumerous instances, after depositing the check, a recipient of an unauthorized
Qchex check sent goods or provided services to a Qchex customer or the customer’s associate in
exchange for the apparently genuine, but in fact bogus, check. When the check ultimately has

proved to be unauthorized, the amount of the check already has been debited from the account
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into which the recipient deposited it. ,In‘numerous instances, the recipiénts of these bogus Qchex
checks have not been reimbursed for the losses they incurred.

35.  Innumerous instances, a seller has received payment in the form of a Qchex
check — apparently genuine but in fact, bogus — made out in an amount greater than the purchase
price of the goods or services, and has been asked by the purchaser, a Qchex customer, to wire
the excess amount back to the purchaser or the purchaser’s associate. In reliance upon the
unauthorized Qchex check, the seller has wired the money as requested. When the Qchex check
later has proved to be unauthorized, the seller’s bank account has been debited to return the
money to the bank account on which the bogus check was drawn. These sellers have been
injured because they incurred the loss of the funds that they wired.

36.  Innumerous instances, Qchex has created and delivered a check at the request of a
customer conducting an employment scheme as follows: The Qchex customer recruits an
unsuspecting individual who becomes an “employee” of the customer. The customer requests
that Qchex create and deliver a check to the employee and instructs the employee to deposit the
Qchex check into his or her account, retain a percentagebas the employee’s commission, and wire
the remainder to the Qchex customer or the customer's associate. After the employee wires the
funds to the Qchex customer, he or éhe learns that the Qchex check is worthless, and the amount
of the check is debited from the employee’s bank account.

37.  Individuals and businesses who have accepted as payment checks that defendants
created and delivered that later proved bogus could not reasonably have avoided the injury. Such
individuals and businesses have had no relationship with defendants and they could not have
known that the apparently genuine checks were unauthorized. Defendants have printed the
checks on security paper, have used magnetic iﬁk, have used bank-certified fonts for the bank
routing and account information, have delivered them via U.S. Mail or email, and, in many

instances, the checks initially have cleared the accounts upon which they were drawn. Thus,
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Qchex checks that appeared to be authentic were in fact bogus and resulted in these individuals
and businesses incurring injury.

Injury Is Not Outweighed by Countervailing Benefits
to Consumers or to Competition

38.  The injury caused by defendants’ practice of creating and ‘delivering checks
without first verifying that the persons requesting the checks have authority to draw checks on
the bank accounts identified to defendants is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to
consumers or to competition. |

THE FTC ACT

39. Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), pl"ohibits unfair or deceptive acts
or practices affecting commerce. Under Section 5(n) of the FTC Act, an act or practice is unfair
if it causes or is iikely to cause substantial injury t;) consumers that is not outweighed by
countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition and that is not reasonably avoidable by
consumers. 15 U.S.C. § 45(n).

COUNT ONE

Unfair Creation and Delivery of Unverified Checks

40. In numerous instances, defendants have created and delivered a check drawn on
an identified bank account without first verifying that the person requesting the check had
authority to draw checks‘on that bank account. Defendants’ actions have caused and are likely to
continue to cause substantial injury to bank account holders and to recipients of unauthorized
checks that cannot reasonably be avoided and is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to
consumers or competition. Therefore, defendants’ practices, as described in paragraphs 11-38

above are unfair and violate Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

Page 10 of 12




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26

Case 3:06-cv-01952-WQH-JMA  Document 1 Filed 09/18006 Page 11 of 15

CONSUMER INJURY

41. Defendants’ violations of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), as set
forth above, have caused and will continue to cause substantial injury to consumers. Absent
injunctive relief by this Court, defendants are likely to continue to injure consumers and harm the
public interest.

THIS COURT’S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF

42. Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), empowers this Court to grant
injunctive and such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate to halt and redress violations
of the FTC Act. The Court, in the exercise of its equitable jurisdiction, may award other
ancillary relief, including, but not limited to, rescission of contracts, restitution, and the
disgorgement of ill-gotten gains, to prevent and remedy injury caused by defendants’ law
violations.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff FTC, pursuant to Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C.
§ 53(b), and the Court’s equitable powers, requests that this Court:

1. Award Plaintiff such preliminary injunctive and ancillary relief as may be
necessary to avert the likelihood of injury during the pendency of this action and to preserve the
possibility of effective final relief, including but not limited to, temporary and preliminary
injunctions;

2. Permanently enjoin defendants from violating Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15
U.S.C. § 45(a), as alleged in this complaint;

3. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers
resulting from defendants’ violations of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, including but not limited to,

rescission of contracts, restitution, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten gains by defendants; and
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4. Award the Commission the costs of bringing this action, as well as any other relief

that the Court may determine to be just and proper.

Dated: S)g(_)’r 13,000

Respectfully submitted:

WILLIAM BLUMENTHAL
General Counsel

Deborah Mitties

Patricia Pefss

Federal Trade Commission

600 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W., H-286
Washington, D.C. 20580

(202) 326-2047; 2314

(202) 326-3395 (fax)

John D. Jacobs

Cal. Bar No. 134154
Federal Trade Commission
10877 Wilshire Boulevard
Suite 700

Los Angeles, CA 90024
(310) 824-4360

(310) 824-4380 (fax)

Attorneys for Plaintiff
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Deborah Matties, hereby certify that I am over 18 years of age, and my business address
1s Federal Trade Corhmission, 600 Pennsylvanta Avenue, N.W., Washington, DC 20580; and
state that I am causing true and correct copies of the Civil Cover Sheet; Complaint for Injunctive
and Other Equitable Relief, Summons; Plaintiff’s Motion for Temporary Restraining Order with
Other Equitable Relief and Order to Show Cause, and Request for Emergency Hearing Withing
24 Hours; Proposed Order Granting Plaintiff’s Motion for an Emergency Hearing on Motion for
Temporary Restraining Order with Other Equitable Relief and Order to Show Cause; Exhibits in
Support of Motion for Temporary Restraining Order, with Other Equitable Relief, and Order to
Show Cause (PX1-19); Declaration of Plaintiff’s Counsel Deborah Matties; Memorandum of
Points and Authorities in Support of the Motion for Temporary Restraining Order with Other
Equitable Relief and Order to Show Cause; Proposed Temporary Restraining Order with Other
Equitable Relief and Order to Show Cause; Plaintiff’s Motion for Leave to File Memorandum in
Excess of Twenty-Five Pages; Proposed Order Granting Plaintiff’s Motion for Leave to File
Memorandum in Excess of Twenty-Five Pages; Pro Hac Vice Applications for Deborah Matties
and Patricia Poss; to be served by express mail service on September 18, 2006, for delivery on

September 19, 2006, on:

Attorney for Defendants Neovi, Inc., G7 Productivity Systems, Inc.,
James M. Danforth, and Thomas Villwock

James C. Stevens, Esq.

402 West Broadway, Suite 400

San Diego, California 92101

Debor atties
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